FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/20/2020 3:57 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/24/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98933-8

No. 80149-0 I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HINDA ABDI

Appellant,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES, BOARD OF INDUSTRIAL INSURANCE APPEALS

Respondent.

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Daniel R. Whitmore, WSBA 24102 Law Offices of Daniel R. Whitmore, PS 6840 Fort Dent Way, Suite 210 Tukwila, WA 98188 206-329-8400 Phone 206-329-8401 Fax Attorney for Appellant Hinda Abdi

III.ISSUES PRESENTED FOR APPEAL

Does a final and binding order of the Department of Labor and Industries denying responsibility for a physical or mental condition prevent an injured worker from reopening her claim based on that condition?

Does the doctrine of res judicata preclude an injured worker from reopening an industrial insurance claim when the order of the Department of Labor and Industries does not specifically deny responsibility for the condition that is the basis of the worker's reopening application?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 15, 2012, the Department of Labor and Industries (Department) allowed Ms. Abdi's claim for injuries arising out of a February 8, 2012 industrial accident.

On September 5, 2014 and September 8, 2014, the Department issued orders denying responsibility for conditions diagnosed as a depressive disorder not otherwise specified (ICD 9 diagnosis code 311) and a pain disorder. Such decisions of the Department are usually called "segregation orders." On September 9, 2014, the Department closed Ms. Abdi's claim. On April 28, 2016, an industrial appeals judge (IAJ) dismissed Appellant's appeals related to her depressive and pain disorders and affirmed the order closing the claim. On September 6., 2016, the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals (Board) upheld that decision.

Ms. Abdi did not appeal the Board's dismissal of these appeals to superior court. Instead, she applied to reopen her claim. On November 14, 2016, the Department denied her application because "[t]he medical record shows the conditions caused by the injury have not worsened since final claim closure." On January 13, 2017, Ms. Abdi appealed the Department's order to the Board.

On June 20, 2018, an IAJ conducted a hearing on Ms. Abdi's reopening application. Abdi appeared at the hearing pro se and called four doctors as witnesses, including Dr. Holly Holbrooks-Kuratek, a psychiatrist. Dr. Holbrooks-Kuratek began treating Ms. Abdi in August 2016. She testified that she diagnosed Ms. Abdi with "persistent depressive disorder" (ICD 9 diagnosis code 300.4), that Ms. Abdi had

exhibited "a consistent pattern of depression directly related to the injury," and that Ms. Abdi's depression worsened in April 2015.

The Department argued Ms. Abdi cannot reopen her claim based on depression because she failed to appeal the Board's final decision in her previous claim determining that her depression and pain disorders were not proximately caused by her industrial injury. The Department did not explain to the Court that the segregated condition was depressive disorder not otherwise specified (ICD 9 diagnosis code 311) and that in her appeal of the denial of her reopening application Ms. Abdi presented testimony that her application was based on persistent depressive disorder (ICD 9 diagnosis code 300.4). Nor did the Department advise the Court of Board case law indicating the doctrine of res judicata will "bar the claimant from obtaining further benefits only when the prior order specifically denies responsibility for the very condition for which the claimant seeks to obtain benefits." *In re Bradley Erben,* Dckt. No. 04 16663 (December 21, 2005).

Based on the Department's characterization of the law, the Court of Appeals agreed.

On July 6, 2020, Ms. Abdi moved for reconsideration, citing to decisions of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals holding that if an injured worker establishes that a "condition previously segregated…objectively worsened between the terminal dates and proved

the worsening was proximately caused by his industrial injury, his claim could be reopened." *In re Jeremy R. Elsey*, Dckt. No. 13 21591, at 5 (March 16, 2015).

On July 21, 2020, the Department filed an opposition to the motion for reconsideration. Citing to outdated case law from 1946 and 1974, the Department contended that the doctrine of res judicata precludes Ms. Abdi from reopening her claim based on segregated medical or psychological conditions. However, the Department also admitted that this case law is inconsistent with the Board's interpretation of the law as set forth in the 2015 *Jeremy R. Elsey* decision.

On July 30, 2020, the Court of Appeals denied Ms. Abdi's motion for reconsideration.

V. ARGUMENT

A. The Supreme Court Should Grant Review to Resolve the Inconsistency Between the Board's Current Interpretation of the Res Judicata Effect of Segregation Orders on Reopening Applications and Older, Apparently Contrary Decisions of the Court of Appeals.

The Supreme Court may grant review and consider a Court of Appeals opinion if it "involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577 (2005) *citing* RAP 13.4(b)(4). Such substantial public interest is present in this case because there is an apparent inconsistency between the Board's current interpretation of the res judicata effect of segregation

orders on reopening applications and decisions of the Court of Appeals that are 46 and 74 years old. Clarity is needed on this point for both Washington employers and workers.

1. The Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals Has Determined that an Order Denying Responsibility for a Given Condition Has no Effect on Aggravations to Such Conditions Occurring After the Order Was Entered.

A worker seeking to reopen a claim must establish by medical evidence that a condition proximately caused by his or her industrial injury worsened between the terminal dates of the aggravation period.

Moses v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 44 Wn.2d 511, 517, 268 P.2d 665 (1954). Here, it is agreed that the first terminal date is September 9, 2014 and the second terminal date is November 14, 2016.

Appellant met her burden by presenting the testimony of Dr.

Holbrooks-Kuratek who opined that Ms. Abdi exhibited a "consistent pattern of depression directly related to the injury" and that this depression worsened beginning in April 2015 -- during the aggravation period.

The Department's September 2014 segregation order denying responsibility for this condition has no res judicata effect on any worsening of the condition that occurred <u>after</u> September of 2014. "The rule is that an order of the supervisor from which no appeal is taken is res judicata as to any issue before the department at the time it was entered, but is not res judicata as to any aggravation occurring subsequent to that

date." Karniss v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 39 Wn.2d 898, 900-01. 239 P.2d 555 (1952) (citing Donati v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., 35 Wn. 2d 151, 211 P.2d 503 (1949)).

The principle articulated in *Karniss* allows injured workers to reopen claims when a "condition previously segregated...objectively worsened between the terminal dates." *In re Jeremy R. Elsey*, Dckt. No. 13 21591, at 5 (March 16, 2015) ((citing *In re Bradley Erben*, Dckt. No. 04 16663 (December 21, 2005); *In re Natalie Nunez*, Dckt. No. 13 12100 (September 19, 2014)).

Had Mr. Elsey established the lumbar condition previously segregated in the June 2 order objectively worsened between the terminal dates and proved the worsening was proximately caused by his industrial injury, his claim could be reopened. Mr. Elsey's claim could also have been reopened had he proved he developed a new lumbosacral condition (that is, one not segregated in the June 24 order) between the terminal dates that was proximately caused by his industrial injury.

Id.

This point is well-accepted part of the Board's jurisprudence.

Marylin L. Taylor, the industrial appeals judge who heard Ms. Abdi's appeal, wrote in her proposed decision and order, "Even if the Department previously has denied responsibility for a particular condition under the claim, the worker may be able to argue that the previously-segregated condition worsened, and the worsening was proximately caused by the

injury." *In re Hinda C. Abdi*, Dckt. No. 17 10463, at 7 (September 13, 2018)(citing *In re Bobby O. Coleman*, Dckt. No. 14 C0102 (October 12, 2015)(crime victims compensation case)).

Judge Taylor then reiterated the same principle later on in her decision, "Although the Department previously denied responsibility for Ms. Abdi's depression and chronic pain conditions, Ms. Abdi's claim could be reopened if she established that those conditions, whether or not caused by the industrial injury, worsened as a result of the injury after the claim closed." *Id*.

In *Bobby O. Coleman*, the Board vacated an Industrial Appeals

Judge's finding that "an order denying responsibility for the low back

forever barred the claimant from asserting the Department should accept

responsibility for a low back condition under this claim," and ordered

further hearings be held so that Mr. Coleman could present evidence that a

dorso-lumbar/lumbosacral condition caused by his assault arose between

the terminal dates or that the assault caused a pre-existing low back

condition to worsen and become disabling." *In re Bobby O. Coleman*, at 1.

2. <u>The Board's Decisions Are Presumed to be Correct, and is Entitled to Deference in its Interpretation of the Industrial Insurance Statute.</u>

The Board's findings and decision are presumed to be correct.

RCW 51.52.115; Ruse v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 138 Wn.2d 1, 5, 977

P.2d 570 (1999). State agencies – such as the Board – are entitled to deference when it interprets the statute it is charged with implementing.

Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Rowley, 185 Wn.2d 186, 208, 378 P.3d 139 (2016). On this point of law, the Board has determined that a Department order denying responsibility for a certain condition does not prevent a worker from reopening his or her claim if the segregated condition worsens due to the industrial injury after the claim has closed.

3. Notwithstanding the Board's Clearly Stated Position that Segregation Orders do not Have Res Judicata Effect on Reopening Applications Based on a Segregated Condition, the Court of Appeals Relied on Outdated Case Law and Ruled Against the Injured Worker.

In its opposition to Mr. Abdi's motion for reconsideration, the Department relied in large part on *LeBire v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 14 Wn.2d 407, 414-17, 128 P.2d 308 (1942) and *Brown v. Bd. of Ind. Ins.*Apps., 11 Wn. App 790, 794-95, 525 P.2d 274 (1974). Ms. Abdi admits that these decisions – the most recent of which was decided almost 50 years ago – offer support for the Department's res judicata argument, but they are entirely inconsistent with the Board's current interpretation of the industrial insurance statute.

The legal standard set forth in *In re Jeremy Elsey* is not an aberration or the result of inartful drafting. It is the clearly stated and widely accepted policy of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals. The Supreme Court should grant review to confirm that Board's interpretation of this point of law is correct.

B. The Supreme Court Should Grant Review Because the Court of Appeals Erred in its Res Judicata Analysis.

The Supreme Court may grant review when the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or a published decision of the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1-2).

The *LeBire* and *Brown* decisions cited above provide authority for the proposition that a worker cannot reopen an industrial insurance claim based on a segregated condition. *LeBire*, 14 Wn.2d at 414-17; *Brown*, 11 Wn.App. at 794-95. However, subsequent decisions of the Board provide a necessary framework for interpreting these appellate decisions.

The Board has clarified that for the doctrine of res judicata to apply, the relevant segregation order must "specifically deny responsibility for the very condition" for which the claimant seeks to obtain benefits. *In re Bradley Erben*, Dckt. No. 04 16663 (December 21, 2005)(quoting from *In re Dennis Brabon*, Dckt. No. 01 17577 (October 28, 2002).

Here, the Department segregated depressive disorder not otherwise specified (ICD 9 diagnosis code 311) but presented evidence at the Board that her reopening application was based on persistent depressive disorder (ICD 9 diagnosis code 300.4). While clearly similar, the segregated condition is not the "very condition" for which Ms. Abdi seeks to obtain benefits. Therefore, the Court of Appeals incorrectly determined that the res judicata principles set forth in *LeBire* and *Brown* apply to Ms. Abdi's appeal, and its decision should be reversed.

VI. CONCLUSION

Relying on outdated case law inconsistent with current Board policy, the Court of Appeals erred in its analysis of the res judicata effect of the Department's order denying responsibility for depressive disorder not otherwise specified. The Supreme Court is needed to provide clarity on this point, and Ms. Abdi respectfully requests that her petition for review be granted.

Unaware of the Board's interpretation of the res judicata principles set forth in *LeBire* and *Brown*, the Court of Appeals erred in its res

judicata analysis because the segregated condition was not the "very condition" for which Ms. Abdi is seeing benefits.