FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/21/2020 10:29 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98933-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

HINDA ABDI,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES' ANSWER TO ABDI'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE VINYARD Assistant Attorney General WSBA #29737 Office Id. No. 91022 Labor and Industries Division 7141 Cleanwater Drive SW P.O. Box 40121 Olympia, WA 98504-0121 (360) 586-7715

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals applied longstanding principles of res judicata to Abdi's appeal to have her worker's compensation claim reopened. Abdi shows no error or harm in the Court's analysis nor any conflict with prior appellate decisions. This Court need not grant review to resolve an alleged conflict between the case law and the Board's decisions regarding res judicata because the case law confirms workers cannot reopen claims based on segregated conditions and Abdi fails to show that the Board's decisions conflict with this. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the superior court. *Abdi v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, No. 80149-0-I, slip op. 1 (Wash. Ct. Apps., June 15, 2020). Abdi's belated claim that there is no final order denying responsibility for a depressive disorder need not be considered, and in any event it fails.

A. Res Judicata Precluded Abdi From Reopening the Claim Based on the Segregated Medical Conditions Consistent with Longstanding Case Law

A worker cannot reopen a claim based on an allegation that a condition that the Department has segregated from the claim worsened after the claim was closed. *See Le Bire v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 14 Wn.2d 407, 414-17, 128 P.2d 308 (1942); *Brown v. Bd. of Indus. Ins. Apps.*, 11 Wn. App. 790, 794-95, 525 P.2d 274 (1974); *see also Karlson v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 26 Wn.2d 310, 329-31, 173 P.2d 1001 (1946). And as Abdi effectively concedes, no appellate case has held otherwise: Abdi dismisses this case law as "outdated," but does not claim that there is newer case law that overruled it. Pet. at 4.

In Le Bire, this Court recognized that res judicata prevents a worker from having a claim reopened based on a segregated condition. Le Bire, 14 Wn.2d at 414-17. In that case, the Department closed a worker's claim with a permanent partial disability award for a left knee injury and also segregated the worker's "proliferative arthritis" from the claim. Id. at 410. This order became final. Id. The worker's health later deteriorated, and the worker sought to have the claim reopened based on the previously segregated arthritic condition. See id. at 412-13. The Le Bire Court determined that res judicata precluded the worker from arguing that the injury caused the arthritic condition, and denied the worker's reopening application. Le Bire, 14 Wn.2d at 419-20. As Le Bire held, a segregation order is a determination that the condition was not caused by the injury, which prevents the worker from having the claim reopened based on a subsequent worsening of that condition. Le Bire, 14 Wn.2d at 418-19.

Brown similarly concluded that the segregation of a medical condition from a claim prevents a worker from reopening the claim based on a worsening of that condition. *Brown*, 11 Wn. App. at 794-95. As *Brown* explains, a claim can only be reopened based on the worsening of a condition that is related to the injury, so a claim cannot be reopened based on a segregated condition; as such conditions are not related to the injury.

See id. And while it is true that a segregated condition might later worsen after that order was issued, such a worsening would be irrelevant, since it would not establish that the conditions *covered under the claim* had worsened.

Res judicata and collateral estoppel preclude Abdi from relitigating the same issue decided in her prior appeal. The Board issued a final decision that determined that Abdi's depression and pain disorder conditions were not proximately caused by the injury. AR 17-26, 380-91, 467. Because Abdi did not appeal this decision, it is final and binding on the parties to that appeal, including both Abdi and the Department. *Marley v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 125 Wn.2d 533, 537-38, 886 P.3d 189 (1994). Abdi's failure to appeal that decision precludes her from attempting to attack it in the current appeal because that decision became res judicata. *See Marley*, 125 Wn.2d at 537-38.

Under the law of collateral estoppel, "when an issue of ultimate fact has once been determined by a valid and final judgment, that issue cannot be litigated between the same parties in any future lawsuit." *See State v. Dupard*, 93 Wn.2d 268, 273, 609 P.2d 961 (1993) (internal citation omitted). The elements of collateral estoppel are:

(1) an issue decided in the earlier proceeding was identical to an issue presented in the later proceeding;

- (2) the earlier proceeding ended in a judgment on the merits;
- (3) the party against whom collateral estoppel is asserted was a party to, or in privity with a party to, the earlier proceeding; and
- (4) application of collateral estoppel does not work an injustice on the party against whom it is applied.

Weaver v. City of Everett, 194 Wn.2d 464, 473-74, 450 P.3d 177, 182-84, (2019); *Christensen v. Grant County Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 152 Wn.2d 299, 306, 96 P.3d 957 (2004). All the elements are met here.

The first element is met, as the Board's previous decision decided an issue that is identical to an issue that Abdi attempts to raise in the current appeal: whether her depression and pain disorder were proximately caused by her industrial injury.² The second element is also met: the Board issued a final decision based on the evidence presented in the case, so it made a decision on the merits. The third element is met, as Abdi was a party to both the prior appeal and the current appeal. And the fourth element is met because Abdi cannot show that applying collateral estoppel would work an injustice as she had a full and fair opportunity in the prior Board proceeding to show that her depression and pain disorder were

² Abdi contends that the condition that the Department segregated in the prior appeal was different from the one at issue here (Pet. at 3), but Abdi waived this argument and, as the Department explains below, the argument fails in any event.

caused by her injury in the prior appeal, yet she failed to convince the Board that those conditions were related to the injury.

Finally, applying the principles of collateral estoppel to Abdi's case works no injustice. The inquiry as to whether applying collateral estoppel would work an injustice is primarily concerned with procedural, not substantive, justice. Weaver, 194 Wn.2d at 474; Christensen, 152 Wn.2d at 309. No injustice exists here because she had the opportunity to fully litigate the issue in the prior appeal. There is an exception when disparity between the relief sought in the two appeals is so great that a party would have been unlikely to have fully litigated the issue in the prior appeal. See Weaver, 194 Wn.2d at 474. But here, unlike in Weaver, there is no reason to believe that Abdi was not fully motivated in the prior case to litigate whether the depression or the pain disorder were related to her injury, nor is there any substantial disparity of relief in the two cases of a kind making it inappropriate to apply collateral estoppel. And Abdi has never claimed that that exception applies here, nor does she raise it in the petition, so she has waived that as an issue. See RCW 51.52.104; RAP 2.5; Leuluaialii v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 169 Wn. App. 672, 684, 279 P.3d 515 (2012) (party waives argument if it was not raised in a petition for review to the Board); State v O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 97-98, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) (appellate courts need not consider arguments made for the first

time at superior court); *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosely*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992) (court does not consider argument raised for the first time in a reply brief).

B. Abdi Shows No Conflict Between the Court of Appeals' Well-Reasoned Decision and Other Appellate Case Law, Nor Even a Conflict with the Board's Application of the Principles of Res Judicata To Reopening Appeals in Its Decisions

Abdi does not even attempt to show a conflict between the decision here and other appellate decisions applying res judicata and collateral estoppel. And none exists. Rather than argue that there is a conflict between the appellate courts with regard to this issue, Abdi urges the Court to grant review to resolve a purported conflict between the Board's decisions and the appellate case law. Pet. at 4-5. But there is no authority for the idea that this Court needs to resolve conflicts between administrative decisions and appellate decisions. And such a rule would not make sense, because, where an administrative decision conflicts with a published appellate decision, the appellate decision controls. There is no need for the Court to take review to "resolve" any purported conflict between the Board and appellate court decisions.

But in any event, the Board cases Abdi relies on—which were not even designated significant by the Board—do not support Abdi's

argument. Pet. at 6-7.³ Contrary to Abdi's argument, the Board's *Elsey* decision did not conclude that segregation orders have no res judicata effect *at all* in the context of reopening applications. Pet. at 6-7. Rather, *Elsey* suggests in dicta that there might be limited circumstances where a worker could seek to reopen a claim based on a segregated condition. *In re Elsey*, No. 13 21591, 2015 WL 1955818 at*4 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App. March 2015).⁴ But this dicta does not help Abdi, because Abdi did not offer the evidence that would have been needed to prevail under *Elsey*.⁵

In *Elsey*, the Board recognized that a final segregation order "limited" the worker's ability to seek a reopening of the claim based on the segregated condition, but the decision provides little guidance on what arguments are foreclosed by res judicata in such a situation and what arguments are still viable. *See Elsey*, 2015 WL 1955818 at 3-4. In that

³ Under RCW 51.52.160, the Board designates certain of its decisions as "significant." These are cases containing analysis that the Board finds particularly helpful to litigants.

⁴ *Elsey* in turn cites *In re Erben*, No. 04 1666, 2005 WL 3802566 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App. December 2005) and *In re Nuanez*, No. 13 12100, 2014 WL 6230594 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App. September 2014).

⁵ Abdi also incorrectly suggests that *Elsey* based its dicta regarding segregated conditions and reopening requests on *Karniss v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 39 Wn.2d 899, 900-01, 239 P.2d 555 (1952), which recognized that decisions to close a worker's claim are res judicata with regard to the worker's condition at the time of the closing order, but are not res judicata as to whether the worker's condition later worsened. Pet. at 6. But *Elsey* does not cite *Karniss*, nor does *Elsey* even allude to the legal rule that *Karniss* contains. And *Brown* specifically rejected the argument that Abdi seems to be hinting at here. *See Brown*, 11 Wn. App. at 795. *Brown* explains that while closing orders are not res judicata regarding whether a worker's condition worsened after the closing order was issued, segregation orders are res judicata regarding whether a condition was caused by the injury, and this remains true in a case involving a reopening application. *See id.*

case, the Department allowed the worker's claim for a thoracic condition, but segregated the worker's pre-existing degenerative disc disease in his low back from the claim and the worker did not appeal the segregation order. *Id.* at 1. The worker later sought to reopen the claim based on an alleged aggravation to the worker's degenerative disc disease. *Id.* at 1-3.

The Board recognized that "[o]ur determination regarding whether Mr. Elsey's industrially related low-back conditions worsened between the terminal dates is *limited* because the [Department] order segregating a lumbar injury with left-leg symptomatology is res judicata." *See Elsey*, 2015 WL 1955818 at 3 (emphasis added). And the Board recognized that the worker cannot "relitigate" the issue of whether the condition segregated by the order "resulted from his industrial injury." *Id*.

In a passing statement, the Board commented that "[h]ad Mr. Elsey established that the lumbar condition previously segregated in the [Department] order objectively worsened between the terminal dates, and proved the worsening was proximately caused by his industrial injury, his claim could be reopened." *Id.* Unfortunately, *Elsey* does not explain how a worker can show that the segregated condition worsened during the terminal dates as a result of an injury without violating res judicata.

However, what *Elsey* most likely had in mind is that a worker could seek reopening based on a segregated condition *if* the worker

showed 1) that a new event occurred after the segregation order was issued, 2) the new event was itself related to the injury, and 3) the new event caused the previously unrelated medical condition to worsen. Such an analysis would be consistent with the case law, which recognizes that res judicata does not apply to conditions that did not exist at the time that the previous decision became final. *See Weaver*, 194 Wn.2d at 482.

In any event, *Elsey* does not help Abdi, because Abdi did not present evidence of the kind *Elsey* appears to contemplate. Rather, Abdi did the very thing that *Elsey* expressly recognizes that a worker *cannot* do in a reopening context: she sought to relitigate the correctness of the segregation order, and show that her mental health conditions were directly caused by her industrial injury. Abdi's medical expert made the conclusory remark that Abdi's mental health was directly related to her industrial injury, but did not assert that something had happened after the segregation order was issued that was itself related to the claim and that caused worsening of Abdi's mental health.

The *Coleman* case cited by Abdi similarly does not support her argument that a segregation order has no res judicata effect at all in the context of a reopening application. Pet. at 7; *In re Coleman*, No. 14 C0102, 2015 WL6876976 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App., Oct. 12, 2015). In that decision, the Board vacated the proposed decision to allow the worker

to present evidence regarding the low back—which had been segregated

from the claim—but it did so subject to significant limitations.

Specifically, the Board concluded that it was error to prevent the claimant

from presenting the following evidence:

Mr. Coleman was prevented from presenting evidence on whether he had a specific lumbar condition *that arose after the claim was last closed* and that was proximately caused by his assault, and also from litigating whether any preexisting or otherwise unrelated lumbar condition had been aggravated by the assault or its sequallae *after the claim was last closed*.

See Coleman, 2015 WL6876976 at *1 (emphasis added). So the Board did not allow the claimant to relitigate the issue of whether the original injury caused him to develop a low-back condition. Rather, it allowed him to present evidence regarding a *new condition* that arose only *after* the claim had been last closed, or a pre-existing or unrelated condition that somehow became aggravated by the injury *after* the claim had been last closed. This shows that the Board recognized that the segregation order's finality precluded the worker from relitigating the issue of whether the injury directly caused the worker to develop a low-back condition, but did not prevent the worker from showing that a new problem, which could not have been at issue at the time that the segregation order was issued, arose.

Contrary to Abdi's argument, *Coleman* does not show that segregation orders have no res judicata effect, it simply shows that there

are limited circumstances where a worker can still present evidence regarding such a condition, provided that the worker is not relitigating the issue of whether the original injury directly caused that condition to occur. For this reason, *Coleman* does not aid Abdi. Abdi attempted to relitigate the issue of whether her injury directly caused her mental health conditions, rather than attempting to show that a new event occurred, after the claim was last closed, that either caused a new problem or caused a pre-existing problem to worsen.

Review is also unnecessary because the existing case law establishes the parameters of res judicata and the limits on that doctrine. *See Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Field's Corp.*, 112 Wn. App. 450, 455, 45 P.3d 1121 (2002); *Weaver*, 194 Wn.2d at 194. The case law establishes that an unappealed Department order is res judicata with regard to the issues encompassed within the scope of the order, but is not res judicata with regard to new issues that arose only after the Department issued its order. *Field's Corp.*, 112 Wn. App. at 455; *Weaver*, 194 Wn.2d at 194. And the Board's decisions in *Elsey* and *Coleman* appear to recognize a similar rule: an unappealed segregation order is res judicata as to whether the injury directly caused the segregation condition, but is not res judicata regarding new issues arising only *after* the Department issued the segregation order.

C. Abdi Waived the Argument That the Depressive Disorder That Was Segregated From Her Claim Is Different From the Depressive Disorder That Her Expert Testified To; But in Any Event the Argument Fails

This Court should not consider Abdi's argument that the

Department segregated a different medical condition than the one that is at issue in her reopening application, as Abdi raised it for the first time in the petition for review. Pet. at 9-10; *see Bosely*, 118 Wn.2d at 809. But even if the Court considers it, the argument fails.

Abdi's argument that the Department's segregation order did not deny responsibility for her depressive disorder is based on information not contained in the record and it cannot be considered here for that reason. *See* RAP 10.3 (factual assertions must be based on citation to the record); RCW 51.52.115 (court makes decision on appeal based only on evidence in the Board record). The record contains a copy of the Board orders issued in regard to the Department order segregating depression from the claim, but does not contain a copy of the Department's segregation order itself. *See* AR 17, 467. The Board's decisions reference the Department denying responsibility for a "depressive disorder." *See* AR 17-26, 467. Abdi's expert variously referred to Abdi's mental health problem as "a consistent pattern of depression" or a "persistent depressive disorder," both of which fall within the scope of the phrase "depressive disorder." And contrary to Abdi's suggestion, the record does not show that either the Department's segregation order or Abdi's witnesses in this case used an ICD-9 code to describe Abdi's mental health condition. *See* AR 17-26, 467, 629.

Furthermore, Abdi's argument fails in any event because the Board issued a final and unappealed decision that determined that Abdi did not have a depressive disorder as a result of her injury. AR 17-26. The Board did not narrowly limit the scope of its decision to a "depressive disorder not otherwise specified," instead broadly addressing the issue of whether Abdi had a depressive disorder or pain disorder. See AR 17-26. Since Abdi did not appeal the Board's order, the Board's determination that Abdi did not have a depressive disorder is final and binding and cannot be collaterally attacked in this appeal. Marley, 125 Wn.2d at 537-38. This is true even assuming for the sake of argument that the Board's order was broader in scope than the Department's segregation order. See Magee v. *Rite Aid*, 167 Wn. App. 60, 73-76, 277 P.3d 1 (2012) (unappealed Board order entitled to res judicata effect even assuming it exceeded scope of review of the Department order under appeal). If Abdi believed the Board erred (either by exceeding its scope of review or on the merits), she could have appealed its decision, but Abdi did not do so.

Abdi waived the argument that she suffered from a different mental health condition than the one the Department segregated from her claim by not raising it below. But even if the Court considers it, it fails.

V. CONCLUSION

Res judicata precluded Abdi from seeking to have her claim reopened based on a condition that had been segregated from her claim. Abdi does not show otherwise and fails to establish any basis for this Court's review. The petition should be denied.